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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

TRUSTEESOF THE NEW JERSEY
B.A.C. HEALTH FUND, et al.,

Plaintiffs, Civil Action No. 16-5096
V. OPINION
ALL FINISH CONSTRUCTION, INC.,

Defendant.

THISMATTER comes before the Court on the motion of Plaintiffs Trustees of the New
Jersey B.A.C. Health Fund, Trustees of the New Jersey B.A.C. Annuity Fund,efrostthe
B.A.C. Local 5 Pension Fund, Trustees of the New Jersey BM&P Apprentice acai&aléund,
Trustees of the Bricklayers & Trowel Trades International Pension Fundte€s of the
International Masonry Institute, and Richard Tolson, as Administrator of B.A.C. rAsinaitive
District Council of New Jersey (together, “Plaintiffs”) for delt judgment again®efendantll
Finish Construction, Inc. &ll Finish”) pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 55(b)(2). For
the reasons set forth herein, the motioGRANTED.

|. BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs are Trustees of the New Jersey B.A.C. Health Fund (the tHaaid"), Trustees
of the New Jersey B.A.C. Annuity Fund (the “Annuity Fund”), Trustees of theB.lLocal 5 of
New Jersey Pension Fund (the “Local 5 Pension Fund”), Trustees ofethel&tsey BM&P
Apprentice and Education Fund (the “Apprentice Fund”), Trustees of the Brickl&y&rowel

Trades International Pension Fund (the “International Pension Fund”), Trusfedise
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International Masonry Institute (the “IMB-all trustees of malemployer, labomanagement
trust funds—and Richard Tolson, the Administrator of the B.A.C. Administrative Dis@raincil
of New Jersey (the “Union”) (collectively, “Plaintiffs”). Compl. §{ 4-1&tDNo. 1.All Finish is
a New Jerseygorporationwith its principal place of business in the stéde§ 11.

All Finish and the Union are parties to a Collective Bargaining Agreeff®€BA”) , which
establiskesthe terms and conditions of employment for employeeslidfinish who do various
forms of covered workas bricklayers, cement masons, plasterers, pointer caulkers, cleaners, fire
proofers, stone masons, brick pavers and exterior marble masons (“Covered WofkIp. The
CBA provides thatll Finish must make spec#d contributions to the Health Fund, the Annuity
Fund, the Local 5 Pension Fund, the Apprentice Fund, the International Pension Fund, and the IMI
(collectively, the “Funds”) and forward specified dues cheff& and other contributions to the
Union for each hour of Covered Work performed by All Finish’'s employde%.13. From May
30, 2016 through June 7, 2016, employees of All Finish performed Covered Work on the
Riverview Medical Center project (the “Riverview Project”) in New Jeriky 14.In conne&tion
with Covered Work performed on the Riverview Project, All Finish failed to make $3,062.40 in
required contributions to the Funds and failed to remit $201.60 in required duesotfiseckthe
Union. Id.

On August 22, 201,6Faintiffs filed atwo-count Complaintseeking monetary damages,
plus interest, costs, liquidated damages, and attorney’s fees. Count 1 assedayioi&ection
515 of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”), 29 U.S.C.55bt4
All Finish’s failure to make contributions tthe multiemployerbenefit plansfor the Covered

Work, as required by the CBAompl. { 17. Count alsoassertsa violation of Section 5 but



for failure to remitdues checloffs owedto the Unionfor the Covered Vérk, as required by the
CBA. Id. 1 22.
The Complaint and summons weserved onAnthony Brown All Finish’s Managing

Agent,on September 4, 201Bkt. No. 4 see alsd-ed. R. Civ. P. 4(h)(1)(B)'he time to answer

or otherwise move as to the Complaint has expired. The Gi&€kurtentered default against All
Finish on November 15, 2016. Dkt. No.®@n December 14, 201@)airtiffs moved for default
judgment. Dkt. No. 7All Finish has not opposed the motion, answered the Complaint, or
otherwise replied in any way.
[I.  LEGAL STANDARD
“The District Court has the discretion to enter default judgment, although erdefanflt

judgment is disfavored as decisions on the merits are prefedkadnal Sci Prods., Inc. v. China

Nat'| Metals & Minerals Imp. & Exp. Corp., 596 F. Supp. 2d 842, 847 (D.N.J. 2008). Prior to

entering default judgment the court must: (1) determine it has jurisdiction botlheveubject
matter and parties; (2) determine whetter defendanteave been properly served; (3) analyze
the Complaint to determine whether it sufficiently pleads a cause of aatidn{4) determine

whether theplaintff has proved damageSeeChanel, Inc. v. Godashevsky, 558 F. Supp. 2d 532,

53536 (D.N.J. 2008)Wilmington Sav.Fund Soc., FSB v. Left Filed Props., LLC, No-4061,

2011 WL 2470672, at *1 (D.N.J. June 20, 2011). Though the facts pled in the Complaint are
accepted as true for the purpose of determining liability, the plaintiff mase tamagesSee

Comdyne |, Inc. v. Corbin, 908 F.2d 1142, 1149 (3rd Cir. 1990).

Further, prior to granting default judgment, the Court must make explicit factdaids
as to: (1) whether the party subject to the default has a meritorious defense; {&)juldece

suffered by the party seelg default judgment; and (3) the culpability of the party subject to



default. Doug Brady, Inc. v. N.J. Bldg. Laborers Statewide Funds, 250 F.R.D. 171, 177 (D.N.J.

2008).

[1l. ANALYSIS
A. Jurisdiction & Service

The Court has both subject matter jurisdiction over this dispute and personal jorsdict
overAll Finish. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this adtiecause it arises under
federal law See28 U.S.C. § 1331The Court has personal jurisdiction oyl Finish becausét
is a New Jersegorporation.

B. Liability

AbsentAll Finish’s answer, the Court must accept the truthfulness of Plaintiffs’ well-pled
allegations. Comtyne | 908 F.2d at 1149. This Court is satisfied that Plaintiff ddequately
pled claims against All Finisfor violation of ERISA.

UnderSection 515 of ERISA, an employer wimakespayments to anultiemployerplan
mustmake such payments according to the termangf governing CBA29 U.S.C. § 1145.
Here, Raintiffs’ first countclaimsthat All Finish failed to pay contributions to the plans as
required by th&CBA. Compl 1 1820. The CBA requiredill Finish to make certain monetary
contributionsto the Funddor Covered Work performed within the trade and geographical
jurisdiction of the UnionSeeMercadante Decht { 7 Dkt. No. 9 Id. Ex. A, CBA atArt. XI 88
5, 7. According toweeklyshop stewards reponpsovided by Plaintiffsemployees of All Finish
performed Covered Work on the Riverview Projeotn May 30, 2016 through June 7, 2016
Id. 1 § id. Ex. C.Plaintiffs claimthat All Finish failed to make required contributions to the
funds.ld., Ex. D.

Plaintiffs’ secondcount claims thafll Finish to failed toremit dues checkffs to the

Union. Article X of the CBA requires All Finish tdeduct a certain amount wages from any



employee who signed a cheol authorization and transmit the sum to the UniSeeCBA at
Art. X. Plaintiffs claim that All Finish deducts the wages but never rentitiegayments to the
Union. Compl. 1 14.

Based on these allegations, Plaintiffs have @eflicient cause of actionunder both
counts of the Complaint.

C. Appropriateness of Default Judgment
Next, the Court must consider: (1) whether the party subject to the defaulnleasosious

defense; (2) the prejudice suffered by the party sealefmultjudgment and (3) the culpability
of the party subject to defauloug Brady 250 F.R.D. at 177. The Court concludes that in the
absencef any responsive pleading and based upon the facts alleged in the CorAfil&imish

doesnot have a meritorioudefenseSeeRamada Worldwide Inc. v. Courtney Hotels USA, LLC

No. 11896, 2012 WL 924385, at *5 (D.N.J. Mar. 19, 2012). Second, the Court findsl|thatiffs
will suffer prejudice absent entry of default judgmaestit would have no other means of obtaining
relief. Finally, the Court finds that All Finisacted culpably ag hasbeen served with the
Complaint,is not aninfant or otherwise incompetent, and is rmesently engaged in military

service. SedMarimon Decl. 2, Dkt. No. 10 Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Starlight Ballroom

Dance Club, Inc., 175 F. App’x 519, 523 (3d Cir. 2006) (holding tbefendant’sfailure to

respond to communications from the plaintiff and the court can constitute culpability

D. Monetary Damages
Plairtiffs claim that All Finishowes $3,346.78. This amount consists of (1) unpaid

contributions,(2) liquidated damageandinterest on the delinquent contributiorsd(3) dues
checkoffs. SeeMercadante Decl. at | 1Blaintiff also seeks attorney/fees and costs totaling

$2,034.16 SeeMarimon Decl.y 8. The Court will address each in turn.



First, acording to Section 502(g)(2) of ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1132(g)(2), upon a finding
that an employer violated Section 515 of ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1145, the plan is eofdedrhent

for the amount of delinquent contributionSeeTrucking Emps. of N. Jersey Welfare Fund, Inc.

v. Bellezza Cq.57 Fed. Appx. 972, 975 (3rd Cir. 2003jlere, Plaintiffs claim that All Finish

failed to pay$2,454.40 irrequired contributions to the Funds tavered workSeeMercadante

Decl. at  8Accarding to theshop stewards repord®cumenting the covered waidom May 30,

2016 through June 7, 201All Finish’'s employeegerformedeighty hours of Covered Work on

the Riverview Projectd. Ex. C. Pursuant to the CBA, All Finish was required contribute $811.20

to the local funds and $1,643.20 to the international funds for the eighty hours of Covered Work.

Id. Ex. D. Thus, Plaintiffhave poved that they are entitled to $2,454.40 for fund contributions.
Second Section 502(g)(2) also entitles the plan to judgment for liquidated daraades

interestat rates prescribed by the documents iasttumentgyoverning the planSeeTrucking

Emps, 57 Fed. App’x at 975. Heré&laintiffs allege that All Finish failed to pay liquidated

damages and interest on delinquent contributions. Plaintiffs claim that AlhFsimund to the

terms of thecollectionpolicy discussed in Art. XI, sec. 2 of the CB#hich states that All Finish

is liable for interest to Local Benefit Funds at a rate of ten percent ([i®&28nnum, liable to the

International Benefit Funds at a rate of fifteen percent (15%) per annum, adatégudamages

on the amount of unpaid contributions at a rate of twenty percent (3@#lercadante Decl. 1

10, 12 id. Ex. E. Since the liquidated damages are provided for under the CBA and are not in

excess of twenty percent (20%), this amount is acceptable under ERé&#sters Health &

Welfare Fund of Philadelphia and Vicinity, et al. v. Dubin Paper Co., NO18%Z, 2012 WL

3018062, at *3 (D.N.J. July 24, 201 Mterest at a rate of 10% per annum from the date that each

contribution was due to tHencal Benefit Funds up to December 13, 2016 yields a total of $33.22



in interest owed to the Local Benefit Funds. Mercadante Decl. § 13, Ex. F.tiateaaeate of 15%
per annum from the date that each contributions was due to the International Benefitg-tonds
December 13, 2016 yields a total of $102.68 owed to theldPFurthermore, All Finish owes
20% of the principal amount due on the Riverview Project (i.e., $2,454.40) for a total of $490.88.
Accordingly, Plaintiffshave demonstrated that th&l} Finish owes then$135.90 in interest and
$490.88 in liquidated damages.
Third, Plaintiffs claim that All Finish failed to remit $256.60 in required dues cbésk
to the union. Mercadante Decl. { Bccording to the CBA, All Finish was required to remit
$265.60 in union chec&ffs. Id. Ex. D. Plaintiff is awarded remittance in that amount.
Finally, Plaintiffs allege that they are entitled to reasonable attorney safegesosts. They
pray for attorney’s feem the amount of $1559.00 and costs in the amount of $475.16, which
are authorizety the CBA and 29 U.S.C. 8§ 1132 (g)(2)(D). Marimon Decl. /] Bursuant to
29 U.S.C. 1132(9)(2)(D), the Court shall award attorney’s fees and coststifmmsalbrought
against violations of 29 U.S.C. § 1145 of ERISA. The affidavit submitted by Plaimiffiasel
certifies that the counsel’s fee in this matter is $1,559.00, which represents 9 $@fthweark
at a rate of $200.00 per hour for work done by counsel, and $90.00 per work done by counsel’'s
paralegalMarimon Decl. at 6, Ex. AAnd Plaintiff’'s counsel certified that their costsmounted
to $474.16, which includes a court fee, invoice fee, and service fee. Marimon Dedhd 7.
Court finds that the attorney’s fees and costs are reasdealijeven the nature of the case and

the services rendere8eeTeamsters Health & Welfare Fund of Phila. and Vicinity v. Dubin

Paper Cq.No. 11-7137, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 102652, **12-13 (D.N.J. July 24, 2012).
In sum All Finish owes Plaintiffs $,380.94for their ERISA violations in this casand

fees and costs



V. CONCLUSION
For the reasons set forth herein, Plaintifff®tion for default judgment, Dkt. No., 7

iIs GRANTED. Judgment is entered in favor of Plaintiffs agaidtFinish in the amount of

$3,346.78, plus attorney’s fees and costs in the amount of $2,034.16. An appropriate Order

accompanies this Opinion.

Dated: June 29, 2017

/s Madeline Cox Arleo
Hon. Madeline Cox Arleo
United States District Judge




